Brazil

Selected Statistics and Indicators

on Child Labor"

Population, children, 5-14 years, 2004: 34,367,074
Working children, 5-14 years (%), 2004: 5.2
Working boys, 5-14 years (%), 2004: 7
Working girls, 5-14 years (%), 2004: 3.3
Working children by sector, 5-14 years

(%), 2004:

- Agriculture 57.8

- Manufacturing 7.2

- Services 33.7

- Other 1.4
Minimum age for work: 16
Compulsory education age: 14
Free public education: Yes
Gross primary enrollment rate (%), 2005: 136.9
Net primary enrollment rate (%), 2005: 94.4
School attendance, children 5-14 years 93.9
(%), 2004:

Survival rate to grade 5 (%): -

ILO Convention 138: 6/28/2001
ILO Convention 182: 2/2/2000
CRC: 9/24/1990
CRCOPAC: 1/27/2004
CRCOPSC: 1/27/2004
Palermo: 1/29/2004
ILO-IPEC participating country: Yes

Incidence and Nature of Child Labor

Children in Brazil work in rural and urban areas,
mainly in the informal sector. In rural areas,
particularly in the northeastern region, children
work in the agricultural sector. Most working
children are Afro descendant.”" Children have
been found working on cotton, manioc,
pineapple, rice, sisal, and tobacco farms. They are
also involved in raising livestock, and the
production of charcoal, ceramics, bricks, and
footwear.”

In urban areas, common activities for working
children include shining shoes; street peddling;
begging; and  working in  restaurants,
construction, and transportation.”” Girls ages 10
to 14 years perform domestic work in third-party
homes for more than 40 hours per week, for
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which they are paid half the minimum wage or
do not receive payment.”

There are reports of forced child labor in the
production of charcoal and in cattle ranching.”
In September 2008, the special anti-forced labor
mobile unit of the Ministry of Labor and
Employment (MTE) liberated 150 workers,
including 30 children, who were working under
forced labor conditions on a cacao plantation in
the State of Para.”

Children are engaged in commercial sexual
exploitation, pornography, and drug trafficking."”
In the Amazon region, children are victims of
commercial sexual exploitation in mining
settlement brothels.” Trafficking in children is a
problem. Girls are trafficked domestically and
internationally for commercial sexual
exploitation. Boys are trafficked internally as
slave laborers.” Child sex tourism is a problem,
which often involves a ring of travel agents, hotel
workers, taxi drivers, and traffickers. Children
are sexually exploited by foreign pedophiles,
mostly from Europe and North America.™

Child Labor Laws and Enforcement

The minimum age for general employment in
Brazil is 16 years.” However, the law establishes
that younger children can work in family
workshops under supervision of a parent or
guardian and under certain conditions, without
specifying a minimum age. The minimum age for
apprenticeships is 14 years."™ Minors who work
as apprentices are required to attend school
through the primary grades and to provide proof
of parental permission to work.”™ The law
prohibits employees under 18 years from working
in unhealthy, dangerous, painful, or arduous
conditions, at night or in settings where their
physical, moral, or social well-being is adversely
affected. The law also prohibits children under 18
years from performing domestic work."™

Decree No. 6.481 of 2008 updated the country’s
list of worst forms of child labor that are
prohibited for all children under the age of 18



years. Children are not allowed to work in
93 specific activities in the following sectors:
agriculture, fishing, timber, mining, raw material
transformation, construction, domestic work, car
repair shops, transportation, and health care
services. Minors are forbidden from working in
bars, brothels, and casinos as well as from being
involved in pornography, the sale of alcoholic
beverages, and the illegal drug trade.”

The law penalizes forced labor and trafficking in
persons internally or internationally. It
establishes imprisonment from 2 to 8 years and a
fine for subjecting a person to slave-like
conditions, with penalties increasing by one-half
if the crime is committed against a child.™
Internal and international labor trafficking is
punishable by imprisonment of 1 to 3 years and
fines; penalties increase by one-sixth to one-third
if the victim is under 18 years.”” Trafficking in
persons for the purpose of sexual exploitation
domestically and internationally is punishable
with 3 to 8 years of incarceration and fines. The
law also provides for fines and prison terms of 4
to 10 years for anyone convicted of trafficking
children 14 to 18 years internally or across
national borders for prostitution, with penalties of
5 to 12 years in cases of violence or fraud.”

The law establishes that introducing a child of 14
to 18 years into prostitution is punishable by
imprisonment of 3 to 8 years, and in cases of
violence or fraud, 4 to 10 years. Running a
brothel is punishable by 2 to 5 years of
imprisonment and fines.”” Child pornography is
illegal.”™  According to Law 11.829 of 2008,
anyone who produces, reproduces, photographs,
or films child pornography can be punished with
4 to 8 years of incarceration and payment of fines.
The law establishes penalties from 3 to 6 years of
incarceration and payment of fines for other
activities related to child pornography such as
publication and distribution of child pornography
and inducing and forcing children to participate
in pornography.”  The minimum age for
conscription into military service is 18 years.”
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MTE conducts labor inspections in work sites for
child labor violations and gathers information
from the inspections to develop plans to combat
child labor through the Divisions of Child Labor
Inspections and Child Labor and Adolescents’
Protection.”” ~ Most inspections result from
complaints to labor inspectors by workers, NGOs,
teachers, the media, and other sources. Although
MTE conducts labor inspections in the informal
sector, they are difficult to undertake because
most children work on farms and in private
homes.” From January 2008 through February
2009, MTE found 6,054 children working during
inspections.””  MTE works closely with the
Federal Labor Prosecutor’s Office (MPT), which
investigates, prosecutes, and brings civil charges
of child labor violations, including the
commercial sexual exploitation of children and
domestic work. It also carries out awareness-
raising campaigns, organizes public hearings to
discuss child labor cases, and holds local
governments accountable when they have not
signed the National Program for the Eradication
of Child Labor or included child labor in social
programs.”  MPT coordinates its efforts to
combat child labor and protect adolescent
workers through a national committee made up
of 50 prosecutors.” In addition, MTE has a
special mobile unit composed of labor inspectors,
federal police, and prosecutors who investigate
cases of forced labor.”

Government authorities involved in combating
trafficking include the Ministry of Social
Development and Combating Hunger (MDS), the
Special Human Rights Secretariat, MTE, the
Ministry of Justice (MOJ), the Ministry of External
Relations (MER), and the Ministry of Tourism
(MOT).” The Federal Police provides training to
police officers on trafficking in persons, with
emphasis on internal trafficking, and conducts
operations to combat trafficking. During 2008, it
arrested 59 persons for international trafficking.™
In addition, the Federal Highway Police provides
training to highway police officers on internal
human trafficking, conducts anti-trafficking
operations, and raises awareness about trafficking
in persons, particularly the trafficking of children
for the purpose of sexual exploitation.™



Current Government Policies and Programs
to Eliminate the Worst Forms of Child
Labor

During the reporting period, the Government of
Brazil approved a 2-year National Plan to Combat
the Trafficking of Persons (PNETP), which is
coordinated by MO]J. Under PNETP, the
Government aims to conduct research and
improve legislation on trafficking of persons, train
and raise awareness of human trafficking,
facilitate  cooperation between government
agencies, and coordinate services provided to
victims of trafficking.” The Brazilian Institute of
Geography and Statistics published the results of
the supplement on child labor of the 2006
Household Survey, which provides information
on child labor in Brazil.™ As of this writing, data
were not available to UCW for analysis for use in
this report. For information on data used in this
report, please see the Data Sources and
Definitions section.

MTE, with support from ILO-IPEC, has set up a
child labor monitoring system that provides
information per activity, municipality, state, date,
labor inspection, and number of children
withdrawn from exploitive work. To raise
awareness of child labor, MTE published an
illustrated handbook that provides information
about child labor laws.™ MPT continues carrying
out national child labor initiatives and has
initiated a new awareness-raising campaign on
child labor aimed at school children and
teachers.™

In partnership with ILO-IPEC, the Ministry of
Education (MOE) incorporated a course on child
labor into its distance learning program, Jump to
the Future, which provides training to public and
private school teachers and is aired on TV Escola.
MOE and the Special Secretariat of Human Rights
(SEDH) published an illustrated booklet on the
rights of children that includes information on
child labor and commercial sexual exploitation of
children.™

The national program to remove children from
working in the most hazardous forms of child
labor is the Program to Eradicate Child Labor
(PETI), which is part of the Social Assistance
Single System, administered by MDS in
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conjunction with state and local authorities.”

Through PETI, families with children working in
selected hazardous activities receive stipends to
remove their children from work and maintain
them in school. In addition, PETI offers an after-
school program to prevent children from working
during non-school hours, which provides
tutoring, snacks, sports, art, and cultural
activities. Children between 7 and 15 years are
eligible to participate.”™ While PETI focuses on
removing children from hazardous work, the
Family Grant (Bolsa Familia) program aims to
prevent child labor and promote education by
supplementing family income and encouraging
at-risk children and adolescents to attend school
regularly. One of the conditions for families to
receive the Family Grant is that children under 15
years, who withdraw or are at risk of working, go
to school.”™ Municipalities and states of Brazil
continue to establish programs to eradicate child
labor with the support of the federal
government.”’

With the participation of the Government of
Brazil and the Government of the state of Bahia,
ILO-IPEC initiated a 4-year, USD 4.9 million
program to combat child labor in the state of
Bahia, funded by USDOL. This initiative aims to
withdraw 7,000 and prevent 7,000 Afro-
descendant children from the agricultural,
domestic, and informal urban sectors.”' It also
participates in a USD 3.3 million ILO-IPEC
regional project to combat child labor in South
America, funded by the Government of Spain.”™
The Government participated in a 4-year, USD 6.5
million ILO-IPEC Timebound Program to
eliminate the worst forms of child labor in
domestic service, commercial sexual exploitation,
hazardous work in agriculture, and in the
informal urban sector, funded by USDOL. The
project withdrew 6,279 children and prevented
5,251 children from exploitive labor.™

MPT, in partnership with state governments, is
currently carrying out awareness-raising of
commercial sexual exploitation of children and
the trafficking of children.”™ The Government of
Brazil continues to assist child victims of
commercial sexual exploitation through the Social
Assistance  Specialized = Reference  Centers
Program, which provides social services for them



and their families. This program is funded by
federal, state, and municipal governments.”” The
Government continues operating a hotline to
report sexual abuse and sexual exploitation of
children. In 2008, 10,125 cases of sexual
exploitation of children and adolescents were
reported.”® SEDH, UNICEF, and the semi-public
oil company Petrobras carried out a campaign
aimed at truck drivers to combat sexual
exploitation of children along highways. With
support from MOT and SEDH, World Vision
conducted an awareness-raising campaign to
combat commercial sexual exploitation of
children in eight cities.””

During the reporting period, the Federal Police
created a national trafficking database designed
to gather accurate information about child labor,
trafficking in persons, child pornography, and
forced labor. MOJ, in partnership with UNODC,
organized an essay contest to encourage academic
research and raise awareness of trafficking in
persons; six university students received cash
awards.””® In addition, the Brazilian Government,
along with the NGO Safenet, created a Web site
where cases of child pornography can be
reported. In 2008, it received 57,574 complaints of
child pornography.”  During the reporting
period, the Government trained law enforcement
agents, prosecutors, federal police officers, and
judges in child labor, trafficking in persons, and
child sex tourism.™ State and local governments
continue to adopt a code of conduct to combat sex
tourism and sexual exploitation. Under the code,
businesses are required to display public
warnings about the potential punishment for
sexually exploiting children.” The Government
of Brazil and the United States conducted joint
training on trafficking in persons and child
pornography.  The Federal Highway Police
continues to provide training to patrol officers.™
The State of Sao Paulo, in partnership with MO]J
and MOT, launched an awareness-raising
campaign to combat trafficking in persons
through public service announcements.”™ MOT
continues to expand its campaign, One Who
Loves, Protects to other South American
countries, including Argentina, Bolivia, Chile,
Colombia, Guyana, Ecuador, Suriname, Uruguay,
and Venezuela. The campaign seeks to prevent
the commercial sexual exploitation of children in
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the tourism sector.™ MTE continues to publish
the “Dirty List” (Lista Suja), which provides
information about cases of forced labor. Based on
this information, the NGO Reporter Brasil, in
partnership with ILO and the Ethos Institute, has
developed an online database broken down by
company or employer, location, economic
activity, and number of forced laborers found by
the special anti-forced labor mobile unit.™

The Government of Brazil and other associates
and member governments of MERCOSUR are
carrying out the “Nifio Sur” (“Southern Child”)
initiative to defend the rights of children and
adolescents in the region. The initiative aims to
raise awareness of commercial  sexual
exploitation, improve country legal frameworks,
and exchange best practices to tackle issues
related to victim protection and assistance.™
MOT is part of the Joint Group for the Elimination
of Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in
Tourism, which conducts prevention and
awareness-raising campaigns to combat the
commercial exploitation of children in Latin
America. It was created in 2005 and includes the
Ministries of Tourism of Argentina, Bolivia, Chile,
Colombia, Ecuador, Paraguay, Peru, Suriname,
Uruguay, and Venezuela.”” In November 2008,
the Government of Brazil hosted the World
Congress III against the Sexual Exploitation of
Children and Adolescents, which gathered more
than 3,500 delegates from 170 countries.™

The Brazilian Government participates in a USD
450,000 USAID project to combat the trafficking of
children for the purpose of commercial sexual
exploitation. In addition, it participated in a USD
3.2 million project to combat trafficking of
persons implemented by ILO and funded by
USAID.”

The Brazilian Government participates in
UNODC efforts to combat human trafficking
through awareness-raising campaigns that
include flyers, posters, and video clips.” The
Government of Brazil participates, along with the
Governments of Argentina, Paraguay, and
Uruguay, in a USD 1,150,000 regional initiative
funded by IDB, which seeks to develop a regional
strategy to combat the trafficking of children for
the purpose of sexual exploitation.™  The
Government of Brazil is currently funding a USD



290,000 ILO-IPEC project to eliminate the worst
forms of child labor in Haiti, and it funded a USD
200,000 ILO-IPEC initiative to combat the worst
forms of child labor in Lusophone countries in
Africa, including Angola, Cape Verde, and
Mozambique, which ended in 2008.™

“ For statistical data not cited here, see the Data

Sources and Definitions section. For ratifications and
ILO-IPEC membership, see the Introduction. For
minimum age for admission to work, see Government
of Brazil, Lei 8.069 - Estatuto da Crianga e do Adolescente e
dd Outras Providéncia, (July 13, ), article 60; available
from http:/ /www .planalto.gov.br/ccivil/LEIS/
L8069.htm. For age to which education is compulsory
and free public education, see also Government of
Brazil, Constitucio da Repiiblica Federativa do Brasil de
1988, (October 5, 1998), 227, 231, 231-A; available from
http:/ /www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/Constituicao/
principal. htm.

“! Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics,
Suplemento Trabalho Infantil -PNAD 2006, March 28,
2008; available from http://www.ibge.gov.br/home/
presidencia/noticias/noticia_impressao.php?id_notici
a=1117. See also ILO-IPEC, Support to National Efforts
towards a Child Labour-Free State, Bahia- Brazil, Project
Document, Geneva, 2008, 13. See also AVANTE and
ILO, Child Labour Baseline in the State of Bahia, Salvador
May, 2008, 5.

2 Ministry of Labor and Employment, Mapa de
Indicativos do Trabalho da Crianga e do Adolescente,
Brasilia, 2005; available from
http:/ /www.mte.gov.br/trab_infantil/pub_7746.pdf.
See also U.S. Department of State, "Brazil," in Country
Reports on Human Rights Practices- 2008, Washington,
DC, February 25, 2009, section 6d; available from
http:/ /www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008 /index.h
tm. See also Instituto Observatorio Social, A Idade da
Pedra, No. 9, February 2006; available from
http:/ /www.observatoriosocial.org.br/portal /index.p
hp?option=content&task=view&id=627&itemid=89.
See also 94FM, Ministério Piiblico Flagra Trabalho Infantil
em Olarias, September 29, 2007; available from
http:/ /www.94fm.com.br/minist_rio_p_blico_flagra_t
rabalho_infantil_em_olarias. See also Canal Rural,
Ministério Piblico Denuncia Trabalho Infantile nas
Lavouras de Tabaco da Regido Sul, February 7, 2008;
available from http:/ /www.clicrbs.com.br/
canalrural/jsp/default.jsp?uf=1&local=1&action=notic
ias&id=2019297 &section=noticias. See also ILO-IPEC,
Trabalho Infantil na Cultura da Abacaxi no Municipio de
Santa Rita-PB: Un diagndstico Rdpido d Luz das Piores
Formas de Trabalho Infantil, 2006; available from
http:/ /white.oit.org.pe/ipec/ documentos/ti_abacaxi
_br.pdf. See also Commissdao Pastoral da Terra,

48

Flagrante de Trabalho infantil no Corte de Cana, 2008;
available from http://www.cptpe.org.br/modules.
php?name=Newsé&file=article&sid=1102.

* Ministry of Labor and Employment, Sistema de
Informagoes sobre Focos do Trabalho Infantil, [online]
[cited March 30, 2009]; available from
http:/ /siti.mte.gov.br/focuses/list. See also ILO-
IPEC, O Trabalho Infantil na Atividade Informal Urbana
em  Guarabira, 2006, 32-33; available from
http:/ /www. ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/viewProduct.d
o?productld=6796.

“* PBrazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics,
Suplemento Trabalho Infantil -PNAD 2006, March
28,2008. See also U.S. Department of State, "Country
Reports- 2008: Brazil," section 6d. See also ILO
Committee of Experts, Individual  Observation
Concerning Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999
(No. 182) Brazil (ratification: 2000), 2008 [cited January
16, 2009]; available from http://www.ilo.org/
ilolex/cgi-lex/pdconv.pl?host= statusOl&textbase=
iloeng&document=10382&chapter=6&query=%28C182
%29+%4Oref+%2B+"/028"/0235ubject°/o3D03%29+%4Oref
&highlight=&querytype=bool&context=0. ~ See also
ILO-IPEC, Trajetéria de Criangas, Adolescentese Jovens
Inseridos nas Redes do Trdfico de Drogas no Varejo do Rio
de Janeiro, 2006, 28-32; available from
http:/ /www ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/
viewProduct.do?productld=6786.

> U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 6¢. See also O Globo, "Operagdo Fecha
Carvoarias Clandestinas no Para", July 2, 2008;
available from http://gl.globo.com/Noticias/Brasil/
0, MUL632782-5598,00.html. See also International
Confederation of Free Trade Unions, Internationally
Recognised Core Labour Standards in Brazil, Geneva,
November 29 and December 1, 2004; available from
http:/ /www icftu.org/www /pdf/clsbrazilenglish200
4.pdf. See also Reporter Brasil, Jovens Submetidos a
Escraviddo sdo libertados por Grupo Movel, September 19,
2007; available from http://www.reporterbrasil.
com.br/exibe.php?id=1184.

¢ U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 6c.

7 Government of Brazil, Decreto No. 6.481, (June 12,
2008); available from http://www.planalto.gov.br/
ccivil_03/_Ato2007-2010/2008 /Decreto/D6481.htm.

" U.S. Embassy- Brasilia, reporting, December 12, 2008.
See also UNODC, Global Report on Trafficking in Persons,
February 2009; available from
http:/ /www.unodc.org/documents/Global_Report_o
n_TIP.pdf.

” U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 5. See also U.S. Embassy- Brasilia,
reporting, December 19, 2008.

* U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 5. See also U.S. Department of State,


http://www.unodc.org/documents/Global_Report_o
http://www.planalto.gov.br
http://www.reporterbrasil
http://www.icftu.org/www/pdf/clsbrazilenglish200
http://g1.globo.com/Noticias/Brasil
http://www.ilo.org/ipecinfo/product
http:http://www.ilo.org
http://www.ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/viewProduct.d
http://siti.mte.gov.br/focuses/list
http://www.cptpe.org.br/modules
http://white.oit.org.pe/ipec
http://www.clicrbs.com.br
http://www.94fm.com.br/minist_rio_p_blico_flagra_t
http://www.observatoriosocial.org.br/portal/index.p
http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008/index.h
http://www.mte.gov.br/trab_infantil/pub_7746.pdf
http://www.ibge.gov.br/home
http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/Constituicao
http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil/LEIS

"Brazil (Tier 2)," in Trafficking in Persons Report- 2008:
Brazil, Washington, DC, June 4, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/tiprpt/2008/.

* Government of Brazil, Constitugio da Repiiblica
Federativa do Brasil de 1988, chapter II, article 7, xxii.
See also Goverment of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 5.452,
Consolidagio das Leis do Trabalho, May 1, 1943, article
403;  available = from  http://www3.dataprev.
gov.br/SISLEX/paginas/10/1943 /5452 htm#T11.

** Goverment of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 5.452,
Consolidagio das Leis do Trabalho, articles 402 and 403.

** U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 6d.

“ Goverment of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 5.452,
Consolidagio das Leis do Trabalho, articles 404 and 405.
See also Government of Brazil, Decreto No. 6.481, June
12, 2008.

** Government of Brazil, Decreto No. 6.481, June 12,
2008.

* Government of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 2.848 - Cédigo
Penal (with modifications), (December 7, 1940); available
from http://www.planalto.gov.br/ ccivil_03/Decreto-
Lei/Del2848compilado.htm. See also ILO Committee
of Experts, Individual Observation Concerning Worst
Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182) Brazil
(ratification: 2000).

*” Government of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 2.848 - Cédigo
Penal (with modifications), articles 132, 203, 206-207
(modified by Laws 9.777 and 8.683 of 1993 and 1998).

* Ibid., 227, 231, 231-A (modified by Lei 11.106 March
28, 2005). See also U.S. Embassy - Brasilia, reporting,
March 2, 2009.

* Government of Brazil, Decreto-Lei No. 2.848 - Cédigo
Penal (with modifications), articles 227-229.

" Government of Brazil, Lei 11.829 (modified articles
240-241E of Lei 8.069 -Estatuto da Crianga e do Adolescente
e dd Outras Providéncia), (November 25, 2008); available
from  http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil/_Ato2007-
2010/2008/Lei/L11829.htm#art].

“! Ibid.
* Ministry of Defense, Servico Militar, [online] [cited
January 6, 2009]; available from

https:/ /www.defesa.gov.br/servico_militar/index.ph
p?page=alistamento. See also Coalition to Stop the Use
of Child Soldiers, "Brazil," in Child Soldiers Global Report
2008, London, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.childsoldiersglobalreport.org/files/coun
try_pdfs/FINAL_2008_Global_Report.pdf.

* Ministry of Labor and Employment, Portaria No. 483,
Regimento Interno, (September 16, 2004), annex VI,
chapter 1III, articles 13-14; available from
http:/ /www.mte.gov.br/institucional/estr_reg_sit.
pdf.

# U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 6d. See also U.S. Embassy- Brasilia,
reporting, February 26, 2009.

49

** Ministry of Labor and Employment, Resultados da
Fiscalicio de Janeiro a Dezembro de 2008; available from
http:/ /www.mte.gov.br/fisca_trab/est_resu_fisc_jan_
dez_acumulo2008.pdf. See also Ministry of Labor and
Employment, Resultados da Fiscalizagio - Janeiro e
Fevereiro de 2009, 2009; available from
http:/ /www.mte.gov.br/fisca_trab/est_resu_fisc_jan_
fev_acumulo2009.pdf.

** PFederal Labor Prosecutor's Office, MPT Realiza
Audiéncia com Municipios Maranhenses para Adogdo ao
PETI, February 4, 2009; available from
http:/ /www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
e.wsp?tmp.area=268&tmp.texto=8348.

*" Pederal Labor Prosecutor's Office, Trabalho Infantil,
[online]  [cited March 24, 2009]; available from
http:/ /www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
e.wsp?tmp.area=258. See also U.S. Embassy- Brasilia,
reporting, February 26, 2009.

“* ILO, Forced Labour in Brazil: 120 Years after the
Abolition of Slavery, the Fight Goes on, May 13, 2008;
available from http://www.ilo.org/global/About_
the_ILO/Media_and_public_information/Feature_stor
ies/lang--en/WCMS_092663/index.htm. See also U.S.
Embassy - Brasilia, reporting, March 2, 2009.

¥ U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 5.

* Ibid. U.S. Department of State, "Trafficking in
Persons Report- 2008: Brazil." See also U.S. Embassy -
Brasilia, reporting, March 2, 2009.

* US. Embassy -Brazil, E-mail communication to
USDOL official, July 6, 2009.

** Government of Brazil, Decreto No. 6.347, (January 8,
2008); available from http://www.planalto.gov.br/
Ccivil_03/_At02007-2010/2008/Decreto/D6347 htm.

*® Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics,
Suplemento Trabalho Infantil -PNAD 2006, March
28,2008.

* Ministry of Labor and Employment, Sistema de
Informagoes sobre Focos do Trabalho Infantil. See also
Ministry of Labor and Employment, Saiba Tudo sobre o
Trabalho Infantil, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.mte.gov.br/trab_infantil/cartilha_trabal
ho_infantil/default.html. See also ILO-IPEC, Support
to National Efforts towards a Child Labour-Free State,
Bahia- Brazil, Technical Progress Report, March 2009, 5
and 7.

** Federal Labor Prosecutor's Office, MPT Cria Projetos
de Ambito Nacional para Erradicagio do Trabalho Infantil,
March 18, 2009; available from
http:/ /www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
e.wsp?tmp.area=268&tmp.texto=8504. See also
Federal Labor Prosecutor's Office, Membros da
Coordinfancia Decidem Langar Projeto ‘MPT na Escola’
Nacionalmente, March 13, 2009; available from
http:/ /www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
e.wsp?tmp.area=268&tmp.texto=8491.


http://www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
http://www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
http://www.mte.gov.br/trab_infantil/cartilha_trabal
http://www.planalto.gov.br
http://www.ilo.org/global/About
http://www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
http://www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/engin
http://www.mte.gov.br/fisca_trab/est_resu_fisc_jan
http://www.mte.gov.br/fisca_trab/est_resu_fisc_jan
http://www.mte.gov.br/institucional/estr_reg_sit
http://www.childsoldiersglobalreport.org/files/coun
https://www.defesa.gov.br/servico_militar/index.ph
http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil/_Ato2007
http://www.planalto.gov.br
http://www3.dataprev
http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/tiprpt/2008

** TLO-IPEC, IPEC news, March 2009; available from
http:/ /www. ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/viewProduct.d
o?productld=9770. See also Ministry of Education and
Special Secretariat of Human Rights, Os Direitos
Humanos, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.mj.gov.br/sedh/documentos/CartilhaZi
raldo.pdf.

* Ministry of Social Development and Combating
Hunger, Desenvolvimiento Social. Guia Sintese, 2008.

*® Ministry of Social Development and Combating
Hunger, Programa de Erradicagido do Trabalho Infantil -
PETI; available from
http:/ /www.portaltransparencia.gov.br/curso_PETL
pdf.

*” Ministry of Social Development and Combating

Hunger, Programa Bolsa Familia. O que sio
Condicionalidades?, [online] [cited March 20, 2009];
available from http:/ /www.mds.gov.br/

bolsafamilia/condicionalidades/o-que-sao-
condicionalidades/.

" State Legislative Assembly of Minas Gerais, Estado
Terd Novo Plano Contra Trabalho Infantil, March 18, 2008;
available from http:/ /www.almg.gov.br/not/
bancodenoticias/Not_681780.asp. See also
Government of Pernambuco, Estado Lanca Plano Contra
Trabalho Infantil, February 2, 2009; available from
http:/ /www2.pe.gov.br/web/portalpe/exibirartigo?
companyld=communis.com.bré&articleld=14103.

"' ILO-IPEC, ILO-IPEC, Support to National Efforts
towards a Child Labour-Free State, Bahia- Brazil, 57.

*? TLO-IPEC Geneva official, E-mail communication to
USDOL official, December 18, 2008. See also ILO, IPEC
Action Against Child Labour 2008: Highlights, 2009, 56;
available from http:/ /www.ilo.org/ipecinfo/
product/viewProduct.do?productld=9471.

** ILO-IPEC, Eliminating the Worst Forms of Child Labor
in Brazil - Support for the Time-Bound Program on the
Elimination of the Worst Forms of Child Labor, Final
Technical Progress Report, Geneva, December 2008.
See also ILO-IPEC, Eliminating the Worst Forms of Child
Labor in Brazil - Support for the Time-Bound Program on
the Elimination of the Worst Forms of Child Labor
(Addendum), Project Document, 2005. See also ILO-
IPEC, Eliminating the Worst Forms of Child Labor in Brazil
- Support for the Time-Bound Program on the Elimination
of the Worst Forms of Child Labor, Project Document,
September 30, 2003.

** Federal Labor Prosecutor's Office, MPT em PE Lanca
Campanha de Combate a Exploragio Sexual Infantil,
February 9, 2009; available from
http:/ /www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao/
engine.wsp?tmp.area=268&tmp.texto=8330&tmp.area_
anterior=44&tmp.argumento_pesquisa=trabalho%20in
fantil.

** See also Ministry of Social Development and Fight
against Hunger, CREAS — Centro de Referéncia Especial

50

de Assisténcia Social, [online] [cited March 25, 2009];
available from http://www.mds.gov.br/programas/
rede-suas/protecao-social-especial /centros-de-
referencia-especializados-de-assistencia-social-
servicos-de-protecao-social-especial-a-familia-pessoa-
idosa-crianca-adolescente-e-pessoa-com-deficiencia/
centros-de-referencia-especializado-da-assistencia-
social-2013-creas-familias-e-individuos.

* U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2008:
Brazil," section 4.

*"'U.S. Embassy - Brasilia, reporting, March 2, 2009.

™ Ibid.

** Fabiana Frayssinet, "War against Child Pornography
on the Internet," Inter Press Services News Agency,
November 28, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.ipsnews.net/print.asp?idnews=44906.
See also SafeNet, SaferNet Recebeu 91 mil Deniincias em
2008, February 11, 2009; available from
http:/ /www .safernet.org.br/site /noticias/safernet-
encerra-2008-com-mais-91-mil-den%C3%BAncias.

" U.S. Department of State, "Trafficking in Persons
Report- 2008: Brazil."

*' Goverment of Alagoas, Municipios Alagoanos Recebem
Cédigo de Conduta do Turismo contra a Exploragio Sexual
Infanto-Juvenil, July 25, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.turismo.al.gov.br/sala-de-
imprensa/noticias/noticias-2007 /maio/setur-apoia-
campanha-contra-exploracao-sexual/. See also
Goverment of Bahia, Informativo Ministério Piiblico, No.
65, October 2008; available from
http:/ /www.mp.ba.gov.br/imprensa/informativos/2
008/mp_65.pdf.

2 U.S. Embassy- Brasilia, reporting, February 26, 2009.
 U.S. Embassy- Brasilia, reporting, December 19, 2008.
See also U.S. Embassy- Brasilia, reporting, January 9,
2009.

" U.S. Embassy - Brasilia, reporting, March 2, 2009.

* ILO, Forced Labour in Brazil: 120 Years after the
Abolition of Slavery, the Fight Goes on. May 13, 2008. See
also U.S. Embassy - Brasilia, reporting, March 2, 2009.
See also Reporter Brasil, Lista Suja do Trabalho Escravo,
[online] [cited April 22, 2009]; available from
http:/ /www .reporterbrasil.com.br/listasuja/index.ph
p?lingua=pt.

" Argentine Ministry of Justice, Security, and Human
Rights, XII Reunién de Altas Autoridades Competentes en
Derechos Humanos y Cancillerias del MERCOSUR y
Estados Asociados, [online] 2008 [cited March 19, 2009];
available from http://www.derhuman jus.gov.ar/
mercosur/. See also Argentine Committee of Pursuit
and Application of the International Convention on the
Rights of Child, La Iniciativa Nin@Sur, una Instancia
Regional que se Afirma, April 2008; available from
http:/ /www.casacidn.org.ar/news_abril /notal.html.
* Brazilian Ministry of Tourism, Equador Assume
Diregio de Grupo Latino-Americano para a Protegdo


http://www.casacidn.org.ar/news_abril/nota1.html
http://www.derhuman.jus.gov.ar
http://www.reporterbrasil.com.br/listasuja/index.ph
http://www.mp.ba.gov.br/imprensa/informativos/2
http://www.turismo.al.gov.br/sala-de
http://www.safernet.org.br/site/noticias/safernet
http://www.ipsnews.net/print.asp?idnews=44906
http://www.mds.gov.br/programas
http://www.pgt.mpt.gov.br/pgtgc/publicacao
http://www.ilo.org/ipecinfo
http://www2.pe.gov.br/web/portalpe/exibirartigo
http://www.almg.gov.br/not
http://www.mds.gov.br
http://www.portaltransparencia.gov.br/curso_PETI
http://www.mj.gov.br/sedh/documentos/CartilhaZi
http://www.ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/viewProduct.d

Infanto-Juvenil, November 26, 2008; available from
http://200.143.12.85/turismo/opencms/institucional /
noticias/arquivos/Equador_assume_direcao_de_grup
o_latino-americano_para_protecao_infanto-juvenil.
html See also Ecuadorean Ministry of Tourism,
Ecuador Asume Liderazgo en Suramérica para la Proteccién
de Menores Jovenes, November 18, 2008; available from
http:/ /www.turismo.gov.ec/index.php?option=com_
content&task=view&id=885&Itemid=43.

" U.S. Embassy - Brasilia, reporting, January 16, 2009.
ILO-IPEC Geneva official, E-mail communication,
December 18, 2008.

529

Burkina

Selected Statistics and Indicators

on Child Labor’”

Population, children, 5-14 years, 2003: 3,462,184
Working children, 5-14 years (%), 2003: 47.0
Working boys, 5-14 years (%), 2003: 46.4
Working girls, 5-14 years (%), 2003: 47.7
Working children by sector, 5-14 years
(%), 2003:

- Agriculture 97.4

- Manufacturing 0.4

- Services 2.0

- Other 0.2
Minimum age for work: 15
Compulsory education age: 16
Free public education: Yes*
Gross primary enrollment rate (%), 65.3
2007:
Net primary enrollment rate (%), 2006: 46.9
School attendance, children 5-14 years 27.2
(%), 2003:
Survival rate to grade 5 (%), 2006: 80.6
ILO Convention 138: 2/11/1999
ILO Convention 182: 7/25/2001
CRC: 8/31/1990
CRCOPAC: 7/6/2007
CRCOPSC: 3/31/2006
Palermo: 5/15/2002
ILO-IPEC participating country: Yes

*In practice, must pay for various school expenses.
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Faso

Incidence and Nature of Child Labor

The majority of economically active children in
Burkina Faso are found in agriculture and stock-
raising, often working on family farms, and in
some cases as paid laborers.”™ Children work
throughout the farming process, sowing,
weeding, and harvesting diverse products such as
beans, cereal, and groundnuts. In addition, many
children work on cotton farms where they may be
exposed to harmful pesticides.”™ Children work
in hazardous conditions in quarries and in the
mining sector, especially in gold mines where
gold-washing may expose children to mercury.”™
Children, particularly girls, also work as hawkers
or domestic servants.” Such children, street
children, and those children working in the
informal sector, including as beggars, are also
engaged in commercial sexual exploitation.™

The practice of sending boys to Koranic teachers
to receive education, which may include a
vocational or apprenticeship component, is a
tradition in various countries, including Burkina
Faso.™ While some boys receive lessons, others
are forced by their teachers to beg and surrender
the money that they have earned or to work in
fields.™ Forced begging under the guise of
religion is increasingly prevalent, as is the
number of street children in urban areas, some as

young as seven.™

Burkina Faso is a destination, transit, and source
country for children trafficked for the purpose of
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